ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Spartanburg County

Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED

APR 27 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ISAAC GLENARD LYLES,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002639

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

LAURA R. BAER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The Trial Court erred in refusing to allow Appellant to attack the credibility of the State's star witness with his prior convictions of armed robbery and third degree burglary where the Trial Court incorrectly ruled that the convictions were inadmissible under Rule 609 because they were not crimes of dishonesty or false statement. Rule 609 permits the use of any crime punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year to attack a witness's credibility regardless of whether the crime involves dishonesty or false statement.
  
- II. The Trial Court erred in allowing the state to qualify an investigator with the narcotics division of the police department as an expert concerning the street value of drugs, the typical habits of a drug user as opposed to a drug dealer, the normal means of packaging and selling certain drugs, typical dosages of street drugs, and opinions concerning avoidance methods persons involved in drug activity use to avoid detection because he was not qualified as an expert under Rule 702.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 27, 2013, Appellant Issac Glenard Lyles was indicted by the Spartanburg County Grand Jury for (1) possession with intent to distribute marijuana; (2) trafficking in cocaine in an amount more than ten grams; (3) trafficking in cocaine base [crack cocaine] in an amount more than ten grams; (4) possession of a firearm during the commission of or attempt to commit a violent crime; (5) possession with intent to distribute marijuana within proximity of a school; (6) possession with intent to distribute cocaine within proximity of a school; and (7) possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine within proximity of a school. R.256 (Indictments).

Appellant was tried before the Honorable Roger L. Couch and a jury on December 4-5, 2013. R. 1. Appellant was represented by William S. Bean, IV, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Scott Daniel Spivey. Id.

On December 5, 2013, the jury found Appellant guilty on all charges. R. 247, l. 15 – 248, l. 8. Pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. § 17-25-45, Judge Couch sentenced Appellant to life without parole for the two trafficking offenses and the proximity charges. Judge Couch sentenced Appellant to ten years for the possession with intent to distribute marijuana offense and five years for the possession of a firearm offense with the sentences ordered to run concurrently to the other sentences. R. 253, l. 18 – 254, l. 13; 258 (Sentencing Sheets).

Appellant timely filed and served his Notice of Appeal on December 12, 2013.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 9, 2012, Investigator Michael Secrest of the Spartanburg City Police Department participated in the execution of a search warrant at a duplex on North Forest Street. He drove the tactical truck for the SWAT team members, and after he arrived on the scene, Investigator Secrest took position for the perimeter on the right side of the duplex at a side door. R. 26, l. 25-30, l. 13. According to Investigator Secrest, a fence ran along side of a wooded area next to the duplex. R. 30, l. 14 – 31, l. 1. He testified that no one was outside of the residence when he arrived and no one was near the fence. R. 33, ll. 9-15.

After the perimeter of the duplex was secured, the tactical team made entry through the front door of the targeted residence. As soon as that entry was made, people ran out of the side door. One of those persons was Appellant. Investigator Secrest caught Appellant, and the two of them fell to the ground. Investigator Secrest claimed that while they were falling, money fell out of Appellant's pockets onto the ground. Investigator Secrest further testified that he noticed Appellant's hand "kinda went down toward his waistline." Investigator Secrest looked down, grabbed Appellant's hand, and detained him. He noticed a purple bag on Appellant's right pocket. When Investigator Secrest felt the bag, he felt the butt of a handgun and he secured the weapon. R. 32, l. 20 – 33, l. 8.

Investigator Secrest testified that other people were present at the targeted residence, although he could not recall all of them. He knew that one person was Edward Wesson and another was Harvey Rainey, but he could not recall anyone else. R. 33, ll. 16 – 21. Edward Wesson had exited the same side door as Appellant immediately prior to Appellant exiting. Investigator Secrest believed that Wesson was stopped near the front corner of the house by other officers. R. 33, l. 25 – 34, l. 2.

On cross-examination, Investigator Secrest admitted that tactical team threw a flash grenade into the residence prior to Wesson and Appellant leaving the side door and acknowledged that people would likely run out of the door of a place where a flash grenade was thrown because it could be a frightening experience. R. 40, l. 14 – 41, l. 3.

Investigator Secrest also confirmed that Edward Wesson and Appellant were the two people that exited the side door and that Wesson exited first. Investigator Secrest did not immediately stop Wesson right outside the door and let him keep going. Investigator Secrest stated he did not immediately stop Wesson as he did Appellant because Wesson was not the target of the search warrant. R. 41, l. 19 – 42, l. 17.

Investigator Josh Bagwell of the Spartanburg City Police Department testified that on October 9, 2012, he acted as the return officer for the execution of the search warrant and wrote down anything taken from the scene. R. 43, l. 6 – 44, l. 3. When Investigator Bagwell arrived, he observed Investigator Secrest running down the side of the residence, and he assisted Investigator Secrest. Investigator Bagwell saw Appellant and another individual come out of the side door. R. 44, l. 4 – 45, l. 17.

Investigator Bagwell recovered the firearm from Appellant's person. He also recovered a small clear plastic bag of green plant material in the right pocket of Appellant's coveralls, a small jar of green plant material from Appellant's coveralls, and a small bag containing a white rock or white powder substance. R. 45, l. 18 – 48, l. 5. Investigator Bagwell also recovered \$1281 from the ground near where Appellant was lying. R. 49, ll. 6-18.

In addition, Investigator Bagwell recovered a black tote bag that was hanging on the fence which ran along the side of the residence. R. 51, l. 18 – 52, l. 25. This bag was

found hanging on the side of the fence that was opposite of the residence. R. 55, ll. 16-19. The bag contained a set of goggles, digital scales, a plant material, three separate bags of a white rock substance, and a big bottle of crystalline powder. R. 56, ll. 13-19.

Investigator Bagwell did not actually spot the black tote bag hanging on the fence. While he was sitting inside the residence doing the return, he was informed by another officer that a bag was hanging over the fence. Investigator Bagwell then went outside to recover the bag. He did not see how the bag got on the fence and had no idea how long the bag had been on the fence. R. 54, l. 23 – 55, l. 13.

Edward Wesson lived at the targeted residence on North Forest Street. He had five previous convictions for fraudulent checks. R. 91, l. 17 – 92, l. 21. At trial, Wesson claimed that Appellant had approached him in the summer of 2012 and asked to use his apartment to sell drugs. R. 92, l. 22 – 94, l. 6. Wesson further alleged that from the summer of 2012 until October 9, 2012, Appellant would sell drugs out of the apartment every day and would always carry a black backpack with him. Wesson contended at trial that the black bag found on the fence by law enforcement belonged to Appellant. R. 94, l. 7 – 96, l. 15. Wesson also claimed that Appellant drove a moped and wore goggles and that the goggles found in the black tote bag belonged to Appellant. R. 97, ll. 1-22.

Wesson testified that he let Appellant use his apartment to sell drugs because he was addicted to drugs and Appellant would pay him with drugs for the use of the apartment. Wesson admitted that he himself had touched the black tote bag because he would retrieve the bag for Appellant when Appellant was allegedly selling drugs to someone. R. 98, l. 7 – 99, l. 4. Wesson claimed Appellant kept the bag hanging on the fence most of the time but that he had no idea why Appellant would want to keep the bag there. R. 99, l. 23 – 100, l. 6.

The amount of drugs found were the following: (1) 5.8 grams of marijuana found on Appellant's person; (2) 1.06 grams of cocaine found on Appellant's person; (3) 25.87 grams of cocaine found in the black tote bag; (4) 18.04 grams of crack cocaine found in the black tote bag; (5) 6.27 grams of crack cocaine found in the black tote bag; and (6) 63 grams of marijuana found in the black tote bag. R. 159, ll. 1-7; 167, ll. 17-22; 175, ll. 13-14; 176, l. 24 – 177, l. 4; 191, ll. 6-10.

The jury convicted Appellant on all indicted counts.

## ARGUMENT

- I. The Trial Court erred in refusing to allow Appellant to attack the credibility of the State's star witness with his prior convictions of armed robbery and third degree burglary where the Trial Court incorrectly ruled that the convictions were inadmissible under Rule 609 because they were not crimes of dishonesty or false statement. Rule 609 permits the use of any crime punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year to attack a witness's credibility regardless of whether the crime involves dishonesty or false statement.**

The only evidence the State presented at trial linking Appellant to the black tote bag containing the 25.87 grams of cocaine, the 18.04 grams of crack cocaine, the 6.27 grams of crack cocaine, and the 63 grams of marijuana was the testimony of Edward Wesson who claimed Appellant sold drugs out of Wesson's apartment and owned the black tote bag found hanging on the fence outside of the apartment. The State presented no physical evidence, such as fingerprints, linking Appellant to the black tote bag. None of the witnesses at trial saw Appellant place the bag on the fence before he was detained by officers and none of the witnesses knew how long the bag had been hanging on the fence.

Wesson's testimony was therefore crucial to the State's case, and the only way the jury could have convicted Appellant of possession and trafficking of the drugs found in the black tote bag is if the jury believed Wesson's testimony. Wesson's credibility was central to the case.

While the Trial Court admitted Wesson's convictions for fraudulent checks, the Trial Court excluded Wesson's prior convictions for armed robbery and third degree burglary, ruling that per this Court's holding in State v. Broadnax, 401 S.C. 238, 736 S.E.2d 688 (Ct. App. 2013), armed robbery and burglary were not crimes of dishonesty or false statement and therefore inadmissible under Rule 609, SCRE. R. 89, l. 17 – 90, l. 7.

The Trial Court erred in relying solely upon Rule 609(a)(2) and Broadnax in excluding Wesson's convictions for armed robbery and third degree burglary. Rule 609(a)(1) provides "evidence that a witness other than an accused has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted, subject to Rule 403, if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which the witness was convicted." This provision allows for the admission of any type of crime, not just crimes of dishonesty or false statement. The Trial Court erred by hinging its analysis on whether the prior armed robbery and burglary convictions were crimes of dishonesty or false statements.

Rule 609(a)(2) provides that prior convictions for crimes of dishonesty and false statement shall be admitted regardless of the punishment. Therefore, for crimes which involve dishonesty and false statement, the crimes can be admitted even if the punishment was not by death or imprisonment in excess of one year. However, Rule 609(a)(1) makes it clear that a prior conviction does not have to involve a crime of dishonesty or false statement to be admissible if the punishment was by death or imprisonment in excess of one year. The difference is that the court should perform a Rule 403 analysis before admitting the impeachment evidence which did not occur here due to the Trial Court's erroneous application of Rule 609.

Here, Wesson's armed robbery and third degree burglary convictions were punishable by imprisonment in excess of one year. S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-11-313; 16-11-330. The crimes were admissible under Rule 609(a)(1) to attack Wesson's credibility which was crucial to the State's case against Appellant.

In addition, the Trial Court's reliance upon Broadnax for its holding that prior armed robbery convictions, without more, did not constitute crimes of dishonesty is in error based

on Wesson's admission during his proffered testimony that his taking of money from an elderly woman at gunpoint and his breaking in at a construction site to find a place to sleep were wrongful and criminal actions. R. 77, l. 18 – 85, l. 16; 89, ll. 4-16. With respect to the armed robbery conviction, Wesson's testimony revealed that he went to the parking lot planning to rob someone, hid in the parking lot while waiting on someone to rob, and then carried out that plan. R. 81, l. 21 – 82, l. 21. Appellant showed acts of deceit beyond the basic crimes themselves, and therefore Wesson's crimes of armed robbery and burglary were admissible under Broadnax.

Finally, the South Carolina Supreme Court granted certiorari in Broadnax on June 12, 2014. Should the Supreme Court hold that armed robbery and related crimes constitute crimes of dishonesty that can be used to impeach an accused, certainly these types of crimes should be allowed to impeach a witness. See State v. Al-Amin, 353 S.C. 405, 414-25, 578 S.E.2d 32, 37-43 (Ct. App. 2003) (holding armed robbery is a crime of dishonesty and recognizing that by definition, dishonesty is a "disposition to lie, cheat, or steal.").

The Trial Court erred in not allowing Appellant to attack Wesson's credibility with his crimes of armed robbery and burglary. The error was not harmless. The State's case against Appellant with respect to the drugs found in the black tote bag depended entirely on Wesson's testimony. Without his testimony, the State could not link Appellant to the black tote bag. The State's case against Appellant hinged on Wesson's credibility, and Appellant should have been permitted to fully attack his credibility with his prior convictions. See State v. Pradubsri, 403 S.C. 270, 284, 743 S.E.2d 98, 106 (2013) (holding that where the State could not present evidence amounting to constructive possession of the drugs without the witness's testimony, the witness's testimony was essential to the State's case and the

error in not allowing cross-examination regarding her exact potential sentence was not harmless). Appellant is accordingly entitled to a new trial.

**II. The Trial Court erred in allowing the state to qualify an investigator with the narcotics division of the police department as an expert concerning the street value of drugs, the typical habits of a drug user as opposed to a drug dealer, the normal means of packaging and selling certain drugs, typical dosages of street drugs, and opinions concerning avoidance methods persons involved in drug activity use to avoid detection because he was not qualified as an expert under Rule 702.**

Investigator Jeff Kirby was assigned to the Narcotics Division with the Spartanburg City Police Department. R. 117, l. 15 – 118, l. 5. Over objection and despite the fact that he had never testified as an expert before, Investigator Kirby was allowed to testify as an expert concerning the street value of drugs, the typical habits of a drug user as opposed to a drug dealer, the normal means of packaging and selling certain drugs, typical dosages of street drugs, and opinions concerning avoidance methods persons involved in drug activity use to avoid detection. Tr. 124, ll. 6-7; 131, ll. 2-13; 133, ll. 13-20. Defense counsel argued that Investigator Kirby was not qualified to testify as an expert. R. 126, ll. 7-24; 130, ll. 11-16.

Rule 702, SCRE provides:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise

The Trial Court erred in qualifying Investigator Kirby as an expert because he is not qualified as an expert under Rule 702. The rule is not intended to allow police officers, who are charged with the responsibility of removing criminals from the streets, to essentially testify that they are doing their job correctly and have correctly charged the defendant with drug possession and trafficking. The State was able to elicit Investigator Kirby's expert testimony that a person who had 1.06 grams of powder cocaine on his person, no drug

paraphernalia for drug use, \$1200 cash, and a gun on his person – remarkably the same items that Appellant had on his person – was in fact a drug dealer. R. 145, l. 19 – 146, l. 5.

This testimony usurped the jury’s fact finding role and was improper:

“[I]t is a little too convenient that the Government has found an individual who is expert on precisely those facts that the Government must prove to secure a guilty verdict—even more so when that expert happens to be one of the Government’s own investigators . . . . When the Government skips the intermediate steps and proceeds directly from internal expertise to trial, and when those officer experts come to court and simply disgorge their factual knowledge to the jury, the experts are no longer aiding the jury in its factfinding; they are instructing the jury on the existence of facts needed to satisfy the elements of the charged offense.”

United States v. Mejia, 545 F.3d 179, 191 (2nd Cir. 2008).

Where the Trial Court erred in qualifying Investigator Kirby as an expert, Appellant is entitled to a new trial.

**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons set forth herein, Appellant Issac Glenard Lyles respectfully requests this Court to reverse his convictions and remand for a new trial.