ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

APR 22 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2013-002639

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

ISAAC GLENARD LYLES,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

BARRY BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street, 3rd Floor
Spartanburg, SC 29306
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Appellant's claim that the trial court erred in relying on the wrong sub-section of Rule 609, SCRE, in ruling a State's witness' prior convictions were inadmissible for impeachment purposes because they were not crimes of dishonesty is not preserved for appellate review because Appellant did not raise this argument to the trial court. Additionally, any error by the trial court in excluding the prior convictions was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where the witness was impeached with other prior convictions.

Appellant contends the trial court erred in refusing to allow him to impeach a State's witness with the witness' prior convictions for armed robbery and third degree burglary pursuant to Rule 609, SCRE. He argues the prior convictions should have been admissible but were improperly excluded because the trial judge erroneously relied on the wrong sub-section of Rule 609 and found they were inadmissible because they were not crimes of dishonesty or false statement. The State submits Appellant's argument is not preserved for appellate review because it was not raised to or ruled upon by the trial court. Furthermore, to the extent the issue is preserved any error in excluding the two convictions was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where the witness was impeached with five other prior convictions which were crimes of dishonesty. Appellant's convictions in this matter should be affirmed.

Argument not Preserved

Initially, the State submits Appellant's argument is not preserved for appeal because it was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial court. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003). At trial, after the proffer of Wesson's testimony, the solicitor moved to prohibit Appellant from using Wesson's convictions for burglary and armed robbery to impeach. He argued that, under Broadnax, the convictions

should not be admissible because they were not crimes of dishonesty and there were no additional acts of dishonesty or deceit beyond the crimes themselves. Appellant responded that he believed Wesson's armed robbery and burglary did involve dishonesty and should therefore be admitted against him to impeach. Appellant never argued the trial judge's reliance on Broadnax was somehow improper or otherwise challenged the analysis undertaken by the court. He did not argue the prior crimes should have been admitted against Wesson regardless of whether they were crimes of dishonesty, and he never requested a Rule 609 analysis outside the Broadnax framework utilized by the trial judge. (R.p.88, line 10-p.90, line 9). He now argues, for the first time, that the trial judge erred because: "Rule 609 permits the use of any crime punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year to attack a witness's credibility regardless of whether the crime involves dishonesty or false statement." (Brief of Appellant, p.9). Because this argument was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial court it is not preserved and should not be addressed in this appeal. In any event, to the extent this Court finds the current argument is sufficiently preserved, any error by the trial in excluding the two convictions was harmless.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). The admission of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 477, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011); State v. Morris, 376 S.C. 189,

205-06, 656 S.E.2d 359, 368 (2008). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. Jennings, 394 S.C. at 477-78, 716 S.E.2d at 93; State v. Meggett, 398 S.C. 516, 523, 728 S.E.2d 492, 496 (Ct. App. 2012). "To warrant reversal based on the admission or exclusion of evidence, the appellant must prove both the error of the ruling and the resulting prejudice, i.e., that there is a reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof." State v. Singleton, 395 S.C. 6, 13-14, 716 S.E.2d 332, 335-36 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005)).

Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE

Rule 609 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence provides that for the purpose of attacking the credibility of a witness:

- (1) evidence that a witness other than an accused has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted, subject to Rule 403, if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which the witness was convicted, and evidence that an accused has been convicted of such a crime shall be admitted if the court determines that the probative value of admitting this evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect to the accused; and
- (2) evidence that any witness has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted if it involved dishonesty or false statement, regardless of the punishment.

Rule 609(a), SCRE (emphasis added). Thus, there are three basic groupings of prior convictions that may be admitted depending first on the nature of the underlying crime (those involving dishonesty versus those that do not) and second on the nature of the witness against whom the prior crime is offered (the accused or someone other than an accused). Under Rule 609(a)(2), SCRE, if a crime is viewed as one involving dishonesty,

the court must admit the prior conviction because prior convictions involving dishonesty or false statement must be admitted regardless of their probative value or prejudicial effect. State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 517, 633 S.E.2d 152, 155 (2006). By comparison, where prior convictions do not involve dishonesty and they are offered against the accused, their probative value should be weighed against their prejudicial effect prior to their admission. Id. at 516, 633 S.E.2d at 155-56; Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE. However, where prior convictions do not involve dishonesty and they are offered against a witness other than the accused, they “shall be admitted, subject to Rule 403, SCRE.” Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE. Rule 403 provides in part that: “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if the probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” Rule 403, SCRE (emphasis added). Thus, when prior convictions which do not involve dishonesty are offered against a witness other than the accused, they must be admitted unless the court determines the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighs the probative value. Rules 403 & 609, SCRE.

Appellant first argues that regardless of whether armed robbery and third degree burglary are crimes of dishonesty or false statement, they should have been admitted against Wesson under Rule 609(a)(1) because they were offered against someone other than the accused and they were crimes punishable by imprisonment in excess of one year. The State does not dispute Appellant’s general interpretation of admissibility under the “witness other than an accused” portion of Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE, and the limitations on the trial court’s ability to exclude such convictions. However, as explained above, Appellant never made this argument at trial and instead argued the trial court should admit the prior convictions as crimes of dishonesty under Rule 609(a)(2), SCRE. As a

result, the argument about admissibility under Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE, is not preserved. In any event, where five other prior convictions were admitted against Wesson and those convictions were crimes of dishonesty, the probative value of the two excluded convictions is virtually non-existent. Consequently, under Rule 403, SCRE, their probative value would be substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to the State and exclusion was appropriate under Rule 609(a)(1). For this same reason, and as explained in detail below, Appellant suffered no prejudice from the exclusion of Wesson's prior armed robbery and third degree burglary convictions. Thus any error under Rule 609(a)(1) was harmless.

Rule 609(a)(2), SCRE

Appellant alternatively argues that even when considered solely in the context of Rule 609(a)(2), the trial court's reliance upon Broadnax for concluding the prior armed robbery and burglary convictions were not crimes of dishonesty, was erroneous. He contends he showed Wesson engaged in acts of deceit beyond the basic crimes themselves which proved those crimes involved dishonesty and mandated admission their admission against Wesson under Rule 609(a)(2). The State disagrees. In regard to the burglary conviction, absolutely no evidence was presented that Wesson engaged in deceit, dishonesty, or false statement. Wesson testified he simply entered a construction site looking for a place to sleep. In regard to the armed robbery conviction, Wesson agreed he was "hiding" in the parking lot prior to the armed robbery; however, the word "hiding" was supplied by Appellant's attorney in the form of a leading question meant to paint the manner in which Wesson was waiting in the parking lot in a negative light. It was never directly used by Wesson and there was no testimony explaining how it was

even possible to have been “hiding” in a wide-open grocery store parking lot. In any event, it is factually impossible to “hide” during an armed robbery because it requires that property of value be taken “from the person of another or in his presence by violence or putting such person in fear.” State v. Frazier, 386 S.C. 526, 532, 689 S.E.2d 610, 613 (2010). Thus, by its very nature committing an armed robbery involves the opposite of hiding. While Wesson’s testimony arguably might show deceit prior to the commission of the crime, it does not show any additional facts of dishonesty or false statement during the commission of the armed robbery itself. If Wesson was covering his face or wearing a mask or disguise, or approached the victim from the back and ordered her not to turn around to look at him, or lied to get the victim to come to the parking lot, such additional facts could weigh more heavily in Appellant’s favor. But here the only evidence was Wesson’s explanation that he was waiting in the parking lot to commit an armed robbery, and then ran away after that robbery. These same or very similar events happen in virtually every armed robbery. The trial court made a factual finding that the evidence presented was insufficient to qualify the armed robbery as a crime of dishonesty and this Court is bound by that factual finding because it was not clearly erroneous. Baccus, 367 S.C. at 48, 625 S.E.2d at 220. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion and the decision should be affirmed.

Harmless Error

Regardless of whether this Court considers Appellant’s claim as a challenge under Rule 609(a)(1) or 609(a)(2), any error by the trial court was harmless under the circumstances of this case. “Error is harmless where it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.” Bryant, 369 S.C. at 5 18, 633 S.E.2d at 156 (citing In re

Harvey, 355 S.C. 53, 63, 584 S.E.2d 893, 897–98 (2003)). “Generally, appellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” Id. (citing State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 175, 399 S.E.2d 595, 596 (1991)). “Thus, an insubstantial error not affecting the result of the trial is harmless where a defendant's guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached.” Id. (citing State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 4–5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 583–84 (1989)). “The circumstances of each individual case are to be considered.” Id.

Here, Wesson admitted he had five 2006 convictions for fraudulent check. (R.p.90, line 17-p.92, line 21). These convictions all were crimes of dishonesty and certainly must have been considered by the jury in assessing Wesson’s credibility. The additional admission of the armed robbery and burglary convictions would have added nothing significant to that assessment; therefore, any error by the trial court was harmless.

II.

The trial court properly qualified police investigator Kirby as an expert in the street value of drugs, how drugs are sold and packaged, and common behavioral characteristics of drug dealers and users based on his education, training, and experience, and the court properly admitted Kirby's expert testimony pursuant to Rule 702, SCRE, because he possessed technical or specialized knowledge which could assist the jury to understand the evidence or determine a fact in issue.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in qualifying narcotics investigator Kirby as an expert in the street value of drugs, the typical habits of a drug user as opposed to a drug dealer, the normal means of packaging and selling certain drugs, typical dosages of street drugs, and avoidance methods persons involved in drug activity use to avoid detection. He contends Kirby was not qualified to be deemed an expert under Rule 702, SCRE, and complains that the Rule is not intended to allow police officers to essentially testify that they are doing their jobs correctly and have correctly charged the defendant with drug possession and trafficking. Appellant argues Kirby offered opinion testimony that improperly usurped the jury's fact finding role by declaring that a hypothetical person with drugs and items similar to those discovered on Appellant would be considered a drug dealer.

To the contrary, the trial court acted well within its discretion in qualifying investigator Kirby as an expert in the street value of drugs, how drugs are sold and packaged, and common behavioral characteristics of dealers and users based on his education, training, and experience. Furthermore, the trial court properly admitted Kirby's expert testimony pursuant to Rule 702, SCRE, because he possessed technical or specialized knowledge which could assist the jury to understand the evidence or determine a fact in issue.

Relevance

As a general rule, all relevant evidence is admissible. State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 34, 538 S.E.2d 248, 255 (2000); Rule 402, SCRE. Evidence that assists the jury in arriving at the truth of an issue is relevant and admissible unless otherwise incompetent. State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 126, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004). Evidence is relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy. In the Matter of Care and Treatment of Corley, 353 S.C. 202, 205, 577 S.E.2d 451, 453 (2003); State v. King, 349 S.C. 142, 153, 561 S.E.2d 640, 645 (Ct. App. 2002); Rule 401, SCRE (“‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.”). It is not required that the inference sought should necessarily follow from the fact proved. See Sweat, 362 S.C. at 127, 606 S.E.2d at 513. Indeed, evidence is relevant if “logically relevant” to establish a material fact or element of the crime; it need not be “necessary” to the State’s case in order to be admitted. Id. (citing State v. Bell, 302 S.C. 18, 393 S.E.2d 364 (1990)).

The State submits evidence supporting Appellant’s alleged drug dealing was of consequence to the jury’s determination of Appellant’s guilt or innocence at trial. The State was entitled to introduce evidence to help explain facts or behaviors that were unfamiliar to the jurors. Expert testimony describing street value of drugs, how drugs are sold and packaged, and the common behavioral characteristics of drug dealers and users had a tendency to make a determination of whether Appellant was a drug dealer more

probable than it would be without such testimony; therefore, the expert testimony was relevant. Rule 401, SCRE.

Expert Testimony

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only and is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the presiding judge and the appellate court will not interfere unless it clearly appears that the rights of the complaining party were abused or prejudiced in some way. State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 262, 721 S.E.2d 413, 417 (2011) (quoting State v. Bridges, 278 S.C. 447, 448, 298 S.E.2d 212, 212 (1982)). Thus, the admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice. State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 349, 737 S.E.2d 490, 494-95 (2013); State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 87, 736 S.E.2d 263, 265 (2012); State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-48 (2006); State v. Rice, 375 S.C. 302, 314, 652 S.E.2d 409, 415 (Ct. App. 2007). Indeed, the qualification of an expert witness and the subsequent admission of the expert's testimony are matters within the sound discretion of the trial court. Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hosp., 326 S.C. 248, 252, 487 S.E.2d 596, 598 (1997); State v. Anderson, 407 S.C. 278, 285, 754 S.E.2d 905, 908 (Ct. App. 2014). A trial court's decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of that discretion. State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009); State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either

lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. Kromah, 401 S.C. at 349, 737 S.E.2d at 495; Gooding, 326 S.C. at 252, 487 S.E.2d at 598; Lee v. Suess, 318 S.C. 283, 457 S.E.2d 344 (1995).

The South Carolina Rules of Evidence provide:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Rule 702, SCRE. Thus, there are several criteria that must be considered by the court in deciding whether to admit expert testimony. First, the court must determine if the scientific, technical, or specialized knowledge purportedly held by the witness would assist the jury to understand the evidence or determine a fact in issue. Second, the court must determine if the proffered witness in fact possesses scientific, technical, or specialized knowledge to qualify as an expert. Finally, in its general gatekeeping function, the court must determine if the type of expert testimony offered meets a “reliability threshold” for the jury’s ultimate consideration. White, 382 S.C. at 269-70, 676 S.E.2d at 686; State v. Martin, 391 S.C. 508, 513, 706 S.E.2d 40, 42 (Ct. App. 2011).

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